
AGENDA

Committee Administrator:     Democratic Services Officer  (01609 767015)

Monday, 29 October 2018

Dear Councillor

NOTICE OF MEETING

Meeting CABINET

Date Tuesday, 6 November 2018

Time 9.30 am

Venue Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Northallerton

Yours sincerely

J. Ives.
Dr Justin Ives
Chief Executive

To: Councillors Councillors
M S Robson (Chairman)
P R Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs B S Fortune

Mrs I Sanderson
S Watson
D A Webster

Other Members of the Council for information 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA
Page No

1. MINUTES

To confirm the decisions of the meeting held on 9 October 2018 (CA.30 - CA.33), 
previously circulated.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Resources Management  

3. SOWERBY SPORTS VILLAGE 1 - 6

This report recommends that elements of Phase 2 of the Sowerby Sports Village 
development, as outlined in the 7 November 2017 Cabinet report, are brought forward 
for completion earlier than originally planned.  The report also requests that additional 
‘seed funding’ is provided to local organisations to help improve sports facilities in the 
Sowerby area.

In accepting the recommendations, Cabinet will approve the delivery of Phase 2 of 
Sowerby Sports Village to be financed from Section 106 funds allocated to this project 
subject to agreement from the owners and developers to vary the terms of use of the 
communities facilities contribution under the Section 106 Agreement; the pitch works 
included within Phase 2 to be delivered under a contract that has been awarded 
through the Football Association procurement framework; and inclusion of Phase 2 of 
Sowerby Sports Village, as highlighted in paragraph 4.2 of the report, in the capital 
programme to meet costs should the developer contribution thresholds not be met in a 
timely fashion.

Relevant Ward(s): Sowerby and Topcliffe Ward

Policy and Strategy  

4. REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 7 - 24

This report presents a revised Local Development Scheme for approval.  The revised 
timescale incorporates time for the work necessary to ensure conformity with the 
National Planning Policy Framework to be completed prior to publication of the plan.  
The timetable includes the submission milestone towards the end of 2019 and the 
adoption milestone before the end of 2020.  A copy of the revised Local Development 
Scheme will be published on the Council’s website.

In accepting the recommendation, Cabinet will approve the publication of the revised 
Local Development Scheme.

Relevant Ward(s): All Wards

Policy Implementation  

5. LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT ENFORCEMENT POLICY 25 - 56

In 2017 Scrutiny Committee investigated whether the Council’s policy on fly tipping 
was fit for purpose.  Scrutiny Committee recommended that the current enforcement 
policy required updating.  This report seeks approval of the Leisure and Environment 
Enforcement Policy.  A project group made up of officers from Legal, Environmental 
Health, Waste and Street Scene, IT and Communications have developed a policy that 
covers enforcement activities across the Leisure and Environment Directorate with 
enforcement schedules for Waste and Street Scene and Environmental Health that sit 
behind so giving greater detail on enforcement options available to the services.

In accepting the recommendation, Cabinet will approve and recommend to Council the 
Leisure and Environment Policy for adoption.

Relevant Ward(s): All Wards



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Cabinet
6 November 2018

Subject: SOWERBY SPORTS VILLAGE
Sowerby and Topcliffe Ward

Portfolio Holder for Leisure: Councillor Mrs B S Fortune 

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND:    

1.1 This purpose of this report is to recommend that elements of Phase 2 of the Sowerby 
Sports Village development, as outlined in the 7 November 2017 Cabinet report, are 
brought forward for completion earlier than originally planned.  It is also requested that 
additional ‘seed funding’ is provided to local organisations to help improve sports facilities in 
the Sowerby area. 

1.2 The Cabinet report of 7 November 2017 highlighted the history and background to the 
project. The master plan (Appendix 1) incorporates 11 football and rugby grass pitches, a 
full size all-weather 3G pitch, a sports pavilion including changing facilities and provision for 
young people, a 1km fitness trail, allotments, BMX track and an extension to the existing all-
weather pitch (on the school site); as well as car parking and other infrastructural amenities.   
The aspiration is that the Sports Village, along with the facilities at Thirsk School and Sixth 
Form College, provide a hub for sport and recreation for all sectors of the community in the 
area.

1.3 The Section 106 Agreement for Sowerby Gateway supplied the land as well as a £1.5 
million contribution to develop the site which will be paid to the Council when 250 dwellings 
have been occupied (to date 216 are occupied). These funds enabled match-funding of the 
European Regional Development Fund grant of £643,000 to deliver Phase 1.

1.4 Since August 2018 onsite works have progressed with the delivery of Phase 1 (land 
remediation; drainage; allotments; small car park; fitness trail and landscaping). As these 
works have progressed an opportunity has arisen to undertake elements of Phase 2 of the 
scheme which were planned for delivery at a later stage. These include the creation and 
preparation of 8 of the 11 grass pitches which are located within the boundary of the 1km 
fitness trail. The advantages of doing this now are both economic and efficient, being 
cheaper to undertake; optimising the use of topsoil and subsoil on the site; resulting in less 
disruption to areas of land within the fitness trail at a future date and bringing the pitches 
into use for the community at an earlier date. The works will be undertaken under a 
separate contract through the Football Association procurement framework.   

1.5 The broad sporting nature of this project and its reliance upon external funding means that 
other considerations can arise during delivery of the main site as funding opportunities or 
partner priorities change. At present the Council is liaising with the Thirsk Hockey Club and 
school with regards to the potential of an extended warm-up area adjoining the artificial 
pitch which the club believes to be vital in order to sustain its growth (the club now has 30+ 
teams, as opposed to the 3 that it had when the pitch was first built by the Council). In order 
to assist this it is highly likely that the club will request some funding from the Council to 
help ‘lever in’ other funds. Likewise discussions are taking place between netball and 
cricket clubs, the school and the Council to deliver improvements on the school site. These 
improvements share the same aims as the main site of the sports village, to increase sports 
participation and improve the health and well-being of the Sowerby and Thirsk community.  
Once again it is likely that these organisations will approach the Council to assist in the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



purchase of these improvements (improved netball courts and cricket nets). The Council 
could direct these applicants to other funding schemes or it could allocate a relatively small 
amount, £25,000, from the Section 106 funds for the sports village to act as seed monies 
for these organisations. It may be prudent and flexible to do this, knowing that these funds 
could not be spent for any other purposes. Should Cabinet agree to this approach then the 
permission of the owners and developers would need to be obtained as the existing S106 
agreement does not include such provision. 

1.6 Table 1 below provides  revised phases for the scheme, the outcomes that each phase will 
achieve and the approximate timescales which are subject to change as they will be 
determined by external funding availability:

Table 1

Phase Development details Outcome Approximate 
Timescale

1

Land remediation, sustainable 
drainage, allotments, small car 
park, fitness trail and soft 
landscaping 

Improved health through 
access to public open 
space for informal sport 
and recreation 

2018/19 – in 
progress

2

Grass pitches (8 within the 
boundary of the fitness trail).  
Hockey pitch extension, indoor 
cricket nets and netball court 
provision – all on school site)

Improved health through 
access to formal sport 
and recreation. Grass 
pitches will require a 
year, or so, to bed in.

Spring 2019 
(pitches). Others 
– 2019/20 
subject to 
funding

3

Pitches (3 remaining grass and 
the artificial), access road, 
utilities, pavilion (potentially 
including provision for young 
people), main car park, 
pedestrian entrance and 
square

Improved health through 
access to formal sport 
and facilities 

2019 - 2021 – 
subject to 
funding 

4 BMX pump track 
Individual project to 
enhance sport and 
recreation provision 

To be 
determined

1.7 Phase 3 is the major stage, turning the remainder of the site from informal open space into 
formalised leisure provision. This is also the most expensive phase as external funders will 
only provide grants if the pitches are serviced by suitable infrastructure such as changing 
rooms and car parking. Similarly the income generated by a pavilion equipped with bar and 
social facilities will be necessary to attract a viable community operator.  The provision of 
potential external grants for this phase is most likely to come from the key sport’s National 
Governing Bodies (NGB’s), however the commitment and scale of their contribution is by no 
means certain.  Should significant funds be made available, co-ordination of these across 
NGB’s would need to take place.  It is feasible that, once the Council knows of the position 
with external funding, the delivery of elements of phase 3 may need to be sequenced at 
different times.

1.8 Phase 4 represents a discrete enhancement of the scheme, which could be undertaken at 
any stage should funding be available. Other opportunities may also arise.

Page 2



2.0 LINK TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES:   

2.1 The sports village is a key component part of the Sowerby Gateway scheme in enhancing 
the quality of lives of the residents of the locality, as well as within the wider Thirsk area. 
This project will make a significant contribution to the ‘Enhancing Health and Wellbeing’ and 
‘Providing a Special Place to Live’ priorities and has been identified as a key project in the 
Council Plan 2015-19.  

2.2 Outcomes from the project will include an increase in the number of people participating in 
physical activity, formal and informal, which will contribute to improved health and 
wellbeing, as well as a reduction in health threatening conditions.  

3.0 RISK ASSESSMENT: 

3.1 The key risk in approving the recommendations is: 

Risk Implication Prob* Imp* Total Preventative action

The commuted 
sum 
thresholds are 
not met by the 
developers in 
a timely 
fashion 

A shortfall in the 
funding strategy could 
delay the project and 
result in external 
funding opportunities 
being missed due to 
lack of match funding.

4 3 12

Budgets are managed 
through the Council’s 
capital programme so 
that funds are 
released and returned 
when grant claims are 
processed. 
Appropriate legal 
agreements are 
upheld with the 
developers

The owners 
&/or 
developers do 
not give 
permission for 
the £25,000 
funds to be 
used as 
proposed

The proposed wider 
scheme improvements 
take longer to deliver or 
are not delivered

4 3 12
Other potential funds 
are pursued by 
partners

            Prob = Probability, Imp = Impact, Score range is Low = 1, High = 5

3.2 There are no high scoring key risks in not approving the recommendations.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

4.1 The intention is to deliver a scheme that is funded through developer and external funding 
contributions. The scale and reliance upon external funding means that it is difficult to 
predict the exact times when such funding might be available and therefore flexibility with 
our financial planning and delivery phases is essential. 

4.2 The £207,260 cost for the preparation of the grass pitches is already budgeted for within 
the Section 106 funds aligned to this project and previously approved by Cabinet on 7 
November 2017, however £20,000 of this will need to be brought forward from 2019/20 to 
2018/19. The £25,000 “seed monies”, should they be approved for the proposed purpose 
by developers and land owners, would also be financed from the Section 106 funds.

Page 3



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

5.1 There is an extensive range of issues with this project that will have legal implications. At 
this stage these include:

5.1.1 Advice and guidance to ensure that the terms and conditions of the Section 106 
agreement are adhered to.

5.1.2 Advice, guidance and support to ensure that Council procurement policies and 
procurement regulations are adhered to.

5.1.3 Advice and guidance to ensure all planning conditions in the Reserved Matters 
application ref 14/01945/REM are met and duly discharged.

5.1.4 Advice, guidance and support to ensure all external funding terms and conditions 
are attainable and met.

5.1.5 Advice and guidance related to land ownership to ensure all legal requirements are 
adhered to.

5.2 As the scheme progresses further legal issues will require consideration, for example, the 
operation of the site by an organisation once the facilities are developed.   

 
6.0 EQUALITY/DIVERSITY ISSUES

6.1 Equality and diversity issues have been considered and an Equality Impact Assessment 
has been completed to ensure that the facility will be fully inclusive for all sections of the 
community regardless of their protected characteristic.

7.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES

7.1 There are health and safety issues related to the works being undertaken to develop the 
site.  All of these are detailed within the contract management documents and managed by 
the project manager.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS:     

8.1 That Cabinet approves:

(1) the delivery of Phase 2 of Sowerby Sports Village, as highlighted in paragraph 4.2, 
to be financed from Section 106 funds allocated to this project subject to agreement 
from the owners and developers to vary the terms of use of the communities 
facilities contribution under the Section 106 Agreement;

(2) the pitch works included within Phase 2 to be delivered under a contract that has 
been awarded through the Football Association procurement framework; and

(3) inclusion of Phase 2 of Sowerby Sports Village, as highlighted in paragraph 4.2, in 
the capital programme to meet costs should the developer contribution thresholds 
not be met in a timely fashion.  

PAUL STAINES
DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT

Background papers: Sports Facility Strategy; Playing Pitch Strategy; Open Space Plan; 
Cabinet Report 7 November 2017 Sowerby Sports Village

Author ref: SL/LW
Contact: Steven Lister

Head of Service for Leisure and Environment 
01609 767033

Page 4



Appendix 1

P
age 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Cabinet
6 November 2018

Subject: REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

All Wards outside North York Moors National Park
Portfolio Holder for Planning: Councillor D A Webster

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND:    

1.1 A Local Development Scheme is required under Section 15 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011).  The Local 
Development Scheme sets out the timetable for the production of the Local Development 
Documents which make up the Council’s Development Plan.  The process for the 
preparation of a development plan is prescribed by statute and regulations which is 
reflected in the work programme.  The Local Development Scheme must be made available 
publically and kept up-to-date.

1.2 On 16 September 2014 Council agreed to proceed with a new Local Plan, to completely 
replace the existing Local Development Framework.  The new Local Plan will have a plan 
period running from adoption to the year 2035.

1.3 The preparation of the new Local Plan is well underway and the first two stages of 
preparation have been completed in accordance with the timescales set out in the current 
Local Development Scheme.

1.4 In April 2018 a revised Local Development Scheme was adopted which set out the 
timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan.  It was produced in response to the 
publication for consultation of the draft National Planning Policy Framework on 5 March 
2018 and allowed for a short delay to allow for consistency checking with the draft National 
Planning Policy Framework prior to Publication.

1.5 Since the current timetable was adopted the final version of the revised National Planning 
Policy Framework has been published (24 July 2018).  The revised National Planning 
Policy Framework introduces a significant number of new requirements for Local Plan 
production, as well as introducing changes to existing policy requirements.  While there are 
no requirements that necessitate significant revision to the work completed to date or that 
would potentially undermine the established preferred options ensuring that the draft plan 
conforms with the National Planning Policy Framework will take some time.

1.6 A new Local Development Scheme has been prepared and is attached at Appendix 1.  The 
revised timescale incorporates time for the work necessary to ensure conformity with the 
National Planning Policy Framework to be completed prior to Publication of the plan.  The 
timetable includes the Submission milestone towards the end of 2019 and the Adoption 
milestone before the end of 2020.  A copy of the revised Local Development Scheme will 
be published on the Council’s website.

2.0 LINK TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES:   

2.1 The publication of a new Local Plan is a priority project for the Council and will help to 
deliver the vision of Hambleton as a place to grow.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



3.0 RISK ASSESSMENT: 

3.1 There are no risks in approving the recommendation.

3.2 The key risk is in not approving the recommendation(s) as shown below:-
 

Risk Implication Prob* Imp* Total Preventative action
The Local Plan is not 
prepared in accordance 
with the published 
Local Development 
Scheme, as required by 
section 15 of the 
Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase 
Act

The Local Plan could fail 
legal compliance test at 
examination

5 5 25
Publish the revised Local 
Development Scheme

Prob = Probability, Imp = Impact, Score range is Low = 1, High = 5

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

4.1 There is no cost associated with the preparation and publication of the Local Development 
Scheme.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

5.1 Failure to prepare the Local Plan in accordance with a published Local Development 
Scheme could result in a legal compliance failure at examination, as identified at 3.2 above.

6.0 EQUALITY/DIVERSITY ISSUES

6.1 Equality and Diversity Issues have been considered however there are no issues 
associated with this report.

7.0 RECOMMENDATION(S):     

7.1 That Cabinet approves the publication of the Local Development Scheme.

HELEN KEMP
DIRECTOR OF ECONOMY AND PLANNING

Background papers: None

Author ref: JC

Contact: James Campbell
Planning Policy Manager
01609 767150

Page 8



Local Development
Scheme

Hambleton...a place to grow

Hambleton Distict Council

November 2018

Appendix 1

Page 9



Page 10



2Introduction1

3Planning making process2

4Public participation
4Publication
5Submission
5Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment
6Habitats Regulations Assessment
6Duty to cooperate

7Production programme3

9Resources, monitoring and review4

10Glossary

12Document information

1Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 11



1 Introduction
1.1 A Local Development Scheme (LDS) is required under Section 15 of the Planning and

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011). The LDS sets out
the timetable for the production of the Local Development Documents (LDDs) that will make
up the Council’s Local Plan. The LDS must give details for certain types of LDDs, namely
Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI).
The LDS must be made available publically and up to date information about whether the
timetable is being met must be made available on the council's website.

National Planning Policy Framework
1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in July 2018. The NPPF requires

local planning authorities to produce plans that are shaped by early, proportionate and effective
engagement between plan-makers and communities, local organisations, businesses,
infrastructure providers and operators and statutory consultees.

National Planning Practice Guidance
1.3 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is a national resource setting out guidance

on all aspects of the planning process including plan making. It provides guidance for local
planning authorities on the steps to be taken at different stages of the production of development
plans.

Regulations
1.4 The legal requirements for plan making are set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, referred to as the Local Plan Regulations 2012, with
the particular requirements of producing local plans contained within regulations 17 to 26.

Background
1.5 in October 2013 Council Members agreed the scope of a partial review of the Local

Development Framework, called the Local Plan Focused Review (LPFR). Evidence base
work was commissioned and published on affordable housing viability, objectively assessed
housing need, and economic development (including an Employment Land Review) and on
retail and town centre uses.

1.6 A key issues raised through the scoping of issues was that new development in smaller
settlements was being constrained and that this did not accord with the NPPF. In 2014,
prepared the Interim Policy Guidance Note (IPGN) to address this inconsistency between LDF
Core Strategy Policy CP4 and the NPPF. The IPGN was adopted by the Council in April 2015
for development management purposes. Subsequently, in April 2015 the Council agreed to
proceed with a full local plan review.

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council2
Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


2 Planning making process
2.1 The process of preparing and adopting development plans is set out in the Town and Country

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 2012.
These regulations prescribe the form and content of a Local Plan and Policies Map and set
out procedural arrangements for preparing Local Plans.

2.2 The NPPG sets out the process for producing development plans:

StepsStage

Initial evidence
gathering

Formulate initial aims and objectives for Local Plan
Begin evidence gathering process
Identify relevant environmental, economic and social objectives to inform
the Sustainability Appraisal

Initial consultation
and continued work
on evidence
gathering

Engage with local communities, businesses and other interested parties
in line with Regulation 18 of Local Plan Regulations 2012
Take into account representations received from consultation process
in line with Regulations 18(3) of Local Plan Regulations 2012
Engage with duty to cooperate partners
Ensure compliance with local planning authority’s Statement of
Community Involvement
Continue evidence gathering
Test emerging options through Sustainability Appraisal

Publication and
submission

Draft plan published for representations for a minimum of 6 weeks in
line with Regulations 17 and 19 of Local Plan Regulations 2012
Plan submitted for examination, along with Sustainability Appraisal,
evidence base and a statement of representations and main issues in
line with Regulation 22 of Local Plan Regulations 2012

Examination of
submitted plan

Independent Inspector assesses plan to determine whether it has been
prepared in line with the duty to cooperate, other legal requirements,
and whether it is sound in line with section 20 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Regulations 23 – 24 of the Local
Plan Regulations 2012
Local planning authority can ask Inspector to recommend main
modifications to make plan sound or comply with other legal
requirements.
Inspector issues report at end of examination
Exceptionally, the Inspector will recommend the draft plan is withdrawn
if it has not been prepared in accordance with the duty to cooperate or
it is likely to be found unsound

3Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 13

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/17/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/22/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/23/made


StepsStage

Adoption Draft plan formally adopted by the local planning authority in line with
section 32 the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Monitoring of implementation of Local Plan policies required in line
with Regulation 34 of the Local Plan Regulations 2012

Public participation
2.3 Community involvement is a key component in shaping the content of development plan

documents. It should be an iterative process potentially involving several major rounds of
engagement in addition to ongoing discussions with interested parties and is carried out in
the context set by Regulation 18. The scale and nature of community involvement will vary
according to the stage of document production. Public participation will be guided by the
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

Statement of Community Involvement
2.4 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in July 2013. It sets

out how people and organisations can get involved in planning. Part three of the SCI, titled
‘Influencing the Local Plan and Planning Policy’, sets out how and when the Council will engage
with people and communities as part of the preparation of plans and policies. Throughout the
preparation of the Local Plan the Council will consult with individuals, local communities,
interest groups, businesses and statutory bodies. The responses to these consultations will
be reviewed by the Council and considered in full, informing the local plan as necessary.

Publication
2.5 On completion of the public participation stages the local planning authority will prepare the

plan for formal publication under Regulation 19. At this stage the plan should be ready for
examination. Once published there is a period for people to comment on the plan. Comments
can only be made in relation to issues of soundness and legal compliance and are known as
'representations'. The period for representations must be at least six weeks, but can be longer.
As it is a formal period there can be no extensions of time or exceptions made for any reason.
Before the plan is published guidance will be produced to help people make representations
that can be accepted.

Soundness
2.6 Local plans are ‘sound’ if they are:

Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet the
area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with other authorities,
so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to do
so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development;

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council4
Page 14

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/34/made
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/info/20039/planning/283/adopted_local_development_framework/6
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/downloads/file/747/statement_of_community_involvement_3
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/19/made


Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, and
based on proportionate evidence;
Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working on
cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as
evidenced by the statement of common ground; and
Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development in
accordance with the policies in this Framework.

Legal compliance
2.7 Local plans are legally compliant if:

i. they have been prepared in accordance with the Local Development Scheme, in
compliance with the Statement of Community Involvement and the Regulations;

ii. they have been subject to sustainability appraisal/ strategic environmental assessment
and Habitats Regulations Assessment;

iii. there is evidence demonstrating cooperation with statutory bodies (the Duty to Cooperate)
and is accompanied by a Statement of Common Ground; and

iv. they have been produced in accordance with all other applicable laws and statutory
requirements.

Submission
2.8 Following consideration of all representations received the local planning authority can propose

limited, minor amendments to the published document. It is then formally submitted (under
Regulation 22) to the Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate for examination. The
Local Plan is accompanied by a schedule of any changes proposed, the representations
received at publication stage and a summary of the main issues arising from those
representations, along with the sustainability appraisal, habitats regulations assessment,
statement of consultation and the supporting evidence documents.

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment
2.9 To assess the potential impact of the Local Plan it must be subjected to thorough sustainability

appraisal. In order to fully comply with the European SEA Directive and the UK SEA
Regulations and to provide a robust evidence base the Council will adopt an integrated
approach towards meeting the requirements for both sustainability appraisal and strategic
environmental assessment of the Local Plan. The appraisals are a systematic, iterative process
to try to ensure that the Local Plan proposes a sustainable pattern of future development
possible. Their purpose is to assess the extent to which emerging policies and proposals will
help achieve relevant environmental, social and economic objectives.

5Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 15

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/22/made


Habitats Regulations Assessment
2.10 An Appropriate Assessment under Article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC

being required for all plans likely to have a significant effect on a European site. Habitats
Regulations Assessments, including Appropriate Assessment as necessary, will be undertaken
prior to formal publication of the local plan.

Duty to cooperate
2.11 The Localism Act 2011 placed a duty on local planning authorities, requiring them to work with

neighbouring authorities and other public bodies to address strategic cross-boundary issues.
This is known as the Duty to Cooperate. Cooperation should be seen as a key collaborative
thread running through the entire plan making process. Hambleton will continue to fulfil its
duty in the following ways:

It will consult with adjoining planning authorities on the preparation of its plans and policies
from the initial stages and on studies which will form the evidence base that will underpin
those plans;
It will respond to consultations from other adjoining planning authorities and North
Yorkshire County Council on the preparation of their policy documentation and evidence
base;
It will continue to work in a collaborative way with other local planning authorities and
statutory bodies; and
It will continue to engage with other Local Planning Authorities and statutory bodies
through participation of the following strategic planning forums:

Tees Valley Development Plan Officer’s Forum
North Yorkshire and York Spatial Planning and Transport Board
The York, North Yorkshire, East Riding and Hull Development Plans Forum
(previously known as the North Yorkshire Development Plans Forum)
North Yorkshire and East Riding Directors of Development
North Yorkshire Heads of Development
York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Local Enterprise Partnership
The Tees Valley Combined Authority

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council6
Page 16



3 Production programme
3.1 The Local Development Scheme and especially this production programme will be kept under

review and will be modified and re-published as and when necessary. Please refer to the
Council’s website for the latest version and interim updates.

Hambleton Local Plan

Planning PolicyLead section:

District wide with the exception of that part of Hambleton covered by the
North York Moors National Park

Scope:

With National Planning Policy Framework (as revised July 2018)Conformity:

To provide a comprehensive development strategy up to 2035 for the whole
district, with the exception of that part covered by the North York Moors
National Park. The local plan will replace all current adopted parts of the

Role and subject:

development plan, specifically the Core Strategy, adopted in April 2007; the
Development Policies, adopted in February 2008, and the Allocations,
adopted in December 2010. The plan will allocate development sites to meet
identified needs and set out detailed development management policies.
The Council does not intend to prepare any other development plan
documents.

Local Plan timetable: Key Stages completed or in progress

DateStage

April 2015Local plan production started

Summer 2015Scoping of key issues

January to February 2016Issues and options consultation, including the sustainability
appraisal scoping report

October 2016 to January 2017Preferred options consultation

April to June 2017Alternative sites and local green space designation consultation

Started Summer 2015Finalisation of evidence base - including Housing and Economic
Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA), Transport Modelling
and Impact Assessment, Viability Assessment, Infrastructure
Delivery Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic
Environmental Assessment, and Habitats Regulations
Assessment

Started July 2017Finalisation of Publication draft local plan

7Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 17

https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan/homepage/10/previous_local_plan_consultations
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan/downloads/file/3/sustainability_scoping_report
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan/downloads/file/3/sustainability_scoping_report
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan/homepage/10/previous_local_plan_consultations
https://www.hambleton.gov.uk/localplan/homepage/10/previous_local_plan_consultations


Local Plan timetable: Key stages to be completed

Date:Stage:

June 2019Publication of the plan (Regulation 19)

June to July 2019

Statutory representations period (minimum 6 weeks) for the
Publication draft
Consultation on the draft final sustainability appraisal report
Consultation on the draft infrastructure delivery plan

November 2019Submission to the Secretary of State (Regulation 22)

November 2019 to October 2020Estimated examination period(1)

November 2020Receipt of inspector's report

December 2020Estimated date of adoption

1. Once the plan has been submitted for examination the timetable is managed by the planning inspector.
As such all dates following submission of the plan are estimated.

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council8
Page 18

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/22/made


4 Resources, monitoring and review
4.1 The Council’s Planning Policy team will take the lead in preparing the local plan, as well as

any supporting evidence and other planning policy documents, such as supplementary planning
documents. Specialist skills available elsewhere in the Council will also be involved where
relevant, in particular involving Development Management, Business and Economic and
Housing Strategy.

4.2 Advice will also be sought from North Yorkshire County Council Council in relation to
socio-economic research, transportation, countryside, biodiversity and archaeology. Expertise
and information is also sought where relevant from other partners such as the Environment
Agency or consultants may be employed to conduct specialist research. The budget for
Planning Policy makes allowance for anticipated costs of development plan production and
funding for specialist consultancy work. Examination costs are predominantly determined by
the Planning Inspectorate and will depend on the scale and complexity of issues to be
examined.

4.3 Preparation and progress with production of the local plan will continue to be reported through
the Annual Monitoring Report which will consider progress against the key dates set out in
this document. Regular monitoring of the effectiveness of development plan policies will also
be undertaken and published on the Council’s website.

9Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 19



Glossary
Adoption
The point at which the final agreed version of a document comes into use.

Annual Monitoring Report (AMR)
Document produced at least annually to report on progress in Local Plan production and implementation of policies.

Development Plan
The documents which together provide the policies for consideration of planning proposals. These will include the
local plan, Minerals and Waste DPDs produced by North Yorkshire County Council and any neighbourhood plans
that have successfully passed referendum and been adopted by the Council.

Development Plan Document (DPD)
A document containing local planning policies or proposals which forms part of the Development Plan, and which
has been subject to independent examination.

Examination
Independent inquiry into the soundness of a draft Local Plan chaired by an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of
State.

Local Development Scheme (LDS)
Sets out the Council’s programme for preparing and reviewing statutory planning documents.

Local Plan
The document containing local planning policies and proposals for Hambleton, with the exception of the part within
the North York Moors National Park.

Policies Map
Amap that shows the spatial extent of the planning policies and proposals of the adopted development plan (formerly
known as the proposals map).

Publication
Point at which a draft Local Plan is issued for representations prior to its submission to the Secretary of State for
examination.

Scoping Report
Report produced as the first stage of Sustainability Appraisal. It examines existing environmental, social and economic
conditions in the district, and identifies appropriate objectives to appraise policies against.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
Document setting out the Council’s approach to involving the community in preparing planning documents and
making significant development management decisions.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)
Process undertaken during plan production, to assess the potential environmental effects of emerging policies and
proposals. It is incorporated within Sustainability Appraisal.

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council10
Page 20



Submission
Following the publication and representations period the point at which a draft Local Plan is submitted to the Secretary
of State along with representations the received for examination.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Provides additional guidance on the interpretation or application of adopted policies and proposals.

Sustainability Appraisal
Process undertaken during plan production, to assess the extent to which emerging policies and proposals will help
to achieve environmental, social and economic objectives. It incorporates Strategic Environmental Assessment.

11Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council
Page 21



Document information

For further information please contact:
Planning Policy
Hambleton District Council,
Civic Centre
Stone Cross
Northallerton
DL6 2UU

planning.policy@hambleton.gov.uk

Links to Websites
The Local Development Scheme includes links to websites providing supporting information, data or
guidance. Every effort has been made to ensure that these links are up to date. As websites change
these links can become invalid. In circumstances where links have become invalid please use a
suitable search term for an internet search. Alternatively please contact Planning Policy at the email
address above for assistance.

Hambleton Local Development Scheme November 2018 - Hambleton District Council12
Page 22

mailto:planning.policy@hambleton.gov.uk


Page 23



© Communications Unit HDC 2018

This information is available in alternative formats and languages

For further information contact:
Planning Policy

Hambleton District Council, Civic Centre,
Stone Cross, Northallerton  DL6 2UU

T: 01609 779977

E: planningpolicy@hambleton.gov.uk

hambleton.gov.uk/localplan

Local 
Plan

Page 24



HAMBLETON DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report To: Cabinet 
6 November 2018

Subject: LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT ENFORCEMENT POLICY

All Wards
Portfolio holder for Leisure and Environment: Councillor S Watson 

1.0 PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND:    

1.1 In 2017 Scrutiny Committee investigated whether the Council’s policy on fly tipping was fit 
for purpose. A report on the policy and issues surrounding fly tipping was presented to 
Scrutiny Committee on 19 October 2017. Scrutiny Committee concluded their review at 
their meeting on 15 February 2018 (Minute SC.31), in summary the key points were:

 
(1) The current enforcement policy on fly tipping was no longer effective and required 

updating. The Committee did recognise that this work was already being undertaken;

(2) A draft updated Enforcement Policy be reported to Scrutiny Committee;

(3) There should be greater promotion and publicity about fly tipping to raise public 
awareness;

(4) Information on the Council’s website about fly tipping should be updated, and the 
possibility of an interactive portal to report incidents should be looked at; and

(5) More multi-agency working to tackle fly tipping should be considered.

2.0 REVISED POLICY AND ACTIONS

2.1 There has been progress made in the areas that Scrutiny Committee identified. A project 
group made up of officers from Legal, Environmental Health, Waste and Street Scene, IT 
and Communications have developed a policy that covers enforcement activities across the 
Leisure and Environment Directorate with enforcement schedules for Waste and Street 
Scene and Environmental Health that sit behind so giving greater detail on enforcement 
options available to the services. 

2.2 The approach was taken to have a directorate wide policy to provide a consistent approach 
to enforcement with appropriate officers given authority to carry out enforcement actions 
through the scheme of delegation; it also ensures that all relevant and new legislation is 
included. 

2.3 The project scope includes all the areas that Scrutiny required further action on. As such, 
Hambleton has signed up to Operation Eyeball, a multi-agency operation throughout North 
Yorkshire looking to tackle fly tipping. Partners such as North Yorkshire Police, other local 
authorities and the Environment Agency are working together to share intelligence and 
information. A key component will be targeted enforcement action days. Discussions have 
also taken place with senior officers within Trading Standards at North Yorkshire County 
Council to forge closer links for joint working and information sharing.

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2.4 Local actions being taken by the Waste and Street Scene and wider project team include:-

 Purchasing more CCTV equipment.
 Signage around reporting fly tipping and fly tipping enforcement being placed on the 

small vehicle fleet.
 Small fleet drivers ie pest control and dog warden to patrol fly tipping hotspots with 

appropriately liveried vehicles.
 Dash cameras to be fitted to the small vehicle fleet to enforce littering from cars and 

aid evidence gathering.

2.5 In addition, Hambleton officers are working closely with IT staff at North Yorkshire County 
Council to potentially develop a system for on-line and mobile reporting of fly tipping and 
other environmental crime. It is envisaged this will be complete in 2019/20. In the meantime 
officers are working to develop the existing website to be more focussed on ease of 
reporting fly tipping, including a link straight from the homepage. A communication plan 
runs alongside the project plan and targeted press releases and social media statements 
are being co-ordinated to run alongside enforcement or education activities.

3.0 LINK TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES:

3.1 The work on enforcement fits within the Council’s priorities of Enhancing Health and 
Wellbeing and Caring for the Environment, by ensuring that neighbourhoods are kept clean 
and safe and attractive to residents and visitors.

4.0 RISK ASSESMENT

4.1 There are no risks in approving the recommendation.

4.2 The key risk in not approving the recommendation is shown below:

Risk Implication Prob* Imp* Total Preventative 
action

Failure to implement 
a robust policy that 
underpins the 
directorate’s 
enforcement activities 
allows environmental 
offences to continue.

Fly tipping, dog fouling, 
food, residential and 
other environmental 
offences are not 
enforced leading to an 
increase in 
infringements and a 
threat to public health.

4 3 12 Approve the 
recommendation of 
the policy

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications in approving the recommendation.

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The policy has been prepared in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance.

Page 26



7.0 EQUALITY/DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 Equality and Diversity issues have been considered, however there are no issues 
associated with this report.

8.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES

8.1 The policy seeks to protect the health and safety of the public through enforcement of 
environmental legislation.

9.0 RECOMMENDATIONS:     

9.1. It is recommended that Cabinet approves and recommends to Council the Leisure and 
Environment Enforcement Policy.

PAUL STAINES
DIRECTOR OF LEISURE AND ENVIRONMENT

Background papers: Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy

Author ref: PS

Contact: Paul Staines
Director Leisure and Environmental Services
01609 767045

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Leisure and Environment
Enforcement Policy

DRAFT

Annex

Page 29



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Page 30



Contents
Introduction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1

Enforcement  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1

Principles of Enforcement  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 2

Authorisation of Officers   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 2

Offences and Penalties   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 3

Investigation with other Agencies  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 3

Equality and Diversity   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 3

Consultation and Review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 3

Powers of Entry  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Primary Legislation  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4

Annex
Waste and Street Scene Enforcement Options   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 5-6

Food Safety  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7-9

Health and Safety  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10-12

Water Supplies  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12-14

Environmental Permitting  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 15-17

Caravans and other licensable sites   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18-19

Residential Services  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 20-22

Private Sector Housing   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 23-24

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Page 31



Introduction
This Enforcement Policy applies to the functions of the Environmental Health and Waste and 
Street Scene Services in the Leisure and Environment Directorate. It details the overall approach 
to enforcement in accordance with relevant legislation, statutory codes of practice and other 
guidance. 

The functions and responsibilities of the services include the environmental protection laws 
-including fly tipping, littering and pollution control and enforcement of food, water, health 
and safety, housing standards, public health, nuisance, the prevention and control of infectious 
diseases. The enforcement options relating to individual regularity functions are detailed in 
separate schedules. 

This Policy has been prepared in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance and in 
particular the Regulators’ Code. The Policy has received Cabinet approval and will be reviewed 
annually.

Enforcement
The Enforcement is defined as including any advice, inspection, action, instruction or warning, 
caution, prosecution (or other types of court action, for example a warrant) taken in relation to 
a person or organisation that is or is believed to be acting unlawfully.

The Directorate will take a graduated approach to enforcement of legislation where 
appropriate. All person(s) and companies will be encouraged to understand the nature and 
extent of their responsibilities and comply voluntarily. The Directorate will use a range of 
investigation methods including the use of CCTV and other recording devices. The Directorate 
will pursue prosecution where circumstances indicate a significant risk or crime, or where 
formal action is in the public interest.  

In considering whether to initiate enforcement action the Directorate will take account of the 
following:

 Code for Crown Prosecutors
 Regulators’ Code
 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (and associated Code of Practice)
 Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA)
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
 Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008
 Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
 Powers of Entry Code of Practice
 Other service specific codes or guidance.

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

1
Page 32



2

Principles of Enforcement
The Directorate will ensure that its approach to regulation is underpinned by the principles of 
enforcement as follows:

 Proportionality in the application of the law and in securing compliance. The Directorate 
will ensure that any action it takes to achieve compliance or bring individuals/companies 
to account for non–compliance will be proportionate to risks and/or to the seriousness of 
the breach.

 Consistency of approach and application. The Directorate will carry out its activities in 
a fair, equitable and consistent manner. In each case officers will consider a number of 
variables including the:

 degree of risk
 attitude and competence of management/business operator/duty holder/individual
 previous history of the business operator/duty holder/individual
 seriousness of the breach.

The Directorate will ensure that it has procedures in place to promote and ensure consistency 
between officers, other authorities and enforcement bodies.

 Transparency on the operation of the services so that those whose activities are regulated 
by the Directorate know what they may expect from each service.

 Services will assist and advise duty holders to understand and fulfil their responsibilities 
and provide information on the Directorate role as a regulator.

Individuals or businesses have a right to query or appeal against enforcement action where 
there are statutory appeal mechanisms. Details of the mechanisms for query or appeal will be 
provided where appropriate. 

 Targeting of enforcement action. The services will direct their enforcement and regulatory 
effort primarily towards those whose activities give rise to the most serious risk or where 
the risks are less well controlled. Action will be focused on those directly responsible 
for any breach and who are best placed to control it. Enforcement action will target the 
issues that most affect the residents and the environment in Hambleton and therefore will 
meet all the Council’s priorities.

Authorisation of Officers
The Council has a system of delegation to individual officers. This delegation is contained in 
the Council’s constitution which is available upon request or on line at: http://democracy.
hambleton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=237&MId=668&Ver=4&Info=1

Only officers who are competent by qualification training and/or experience will be authorised 
to take enforcement action.

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Page 33



Offences and Penalties
Fixed penalty notices will be issued to individuals and business operators where the legislation 
provides as an alternative to prosecution. The courts will impose appropriate sentence/s upon 
conviction in accordance with provisions detailed in legislation and sentencing guidelines.  
The alleged offences and potential penalties will be made clear to prospective defendants 
throughout the investigation.

Investigation with other Agencies
Where an enforcement role is shared with another agency, the services will undertake joint 
enforcement activity in order to minimise any unnecessary duplication and delay. Joint working 
may be undertaken with agencies including local authorities, the Police, the Food Standards 
Agency or any other relevant agency as appropriate.

Equality and Diversity
The Directorate will ensure that decisions are not influenced by the gender, disability, religion 
or political belief, language, ethnicity or sexual preferences of offenders, victims or witnesses.  
Translators will be provided for interviews where the interviewee’s first language is not English 
and consideration will be given to the provision of correspondence in other languages.  
Officers will also carry out visits outsidenormal office hours when the business concerned 
operates at those times.

When dealing with juveniles or people who are vulnerable due to learning difficulties, mental 
illness or any other factor, due regard will be taken.

Consultation and Review
The services will consult and inform their stakeholders of any changes to legislation and the 
implications of those changes. The services will provide the mechanisms for those whose 
activities are regulated by the Council to comment on the service they have received and/
or the actions taken by the Council. The Council will act upon any comments or complaints 
about the services or the conduct of its officers in an appropriate manner and in accordance 
with the policies of the Council.

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

3
Page 34



4

Powers of Entry
When exercising their statutory powers officers will have regard to specific legislation and codes 
of practice including:

 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (and associated Code of Practice)
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
 Powers of Entry Code of Practice
 Food Law Code of Practice.

Primary Legislation
Primary Legislation includes:

European Communities Act 1972 and relevant Regulations made in accordance with the Act
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984
Water Industry Act 1999
Food Safety Act 1990
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974
Environmental Protection Act 1990
Environment Act 1995
Housing Act 2004
Housing and Planning Act 2016
Animal Welfare Act 2006
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978
Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989
Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003
Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Page 35



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Waste and Street Scene 
Enforcement Options 
Hambleton District Council, as a Waste Enforcement Authority, has a duty placed on it by the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 to manage and regulate waste. The Council is committed 
to maintaining a clean and safe environment for the benefit of everyone in the district. This 
commitment recognises its responsibility to keep the streets and local environment clear of 
litter, dog fouling and other local environmental quality issues. The following options will be 
considered when enforcing this duty:

CONTROLLING WASTE – including Flytipping; Littering; Litter clearance and 
Control of Street Litter; Graffiti; Flyposting; Abandoned Vehicles and Nuisance 

Parking;  Dog Fouling 

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no evidence 
available to identify the likely perpetrator.

Informal 
action

May take the form of: Advice; Verbal warning; Written information
• Where it can be reasonably expected that informal action will achieve 

compliance.

Fixed 
Penalty 
Notices

Where it is in the public interest to do so, the Council will endeavour to give 
the offender an opportunity to avoid prosecution by the payment of a Fixed 
Penalty Notice if appropriate.
The issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices will be considered by the Council in the 
following circumstances - where the offence has been admitted to by the 
offender:
• where the offence has not been committed by the offender before
• where there is sufficient evidence to prove the case.
Fixed Penalty Notices are not appropriate with repeat offenders and the 
Council will seek to prosecute them through the court system.

Prosecution Prosecutions will be considered under any of the following circumstances:
• The offence is serious and/or there is a risk to the public
• There is a poor history of compliance
• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple caution
• There have been repeat offences
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been an intent to 

deceive
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their duties
• A Fixed Penalty Notice has not been accepted

5

Annex

Page 36



6

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

WASTE AND STREET SCENE ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS: 
MICROCHIPPING OF DOGS (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2015

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no evidence 
available to identify the likely perpetrator.

Informal 
action

May take the form of: Advice; Verbal warning; Written information
• Where it can be reasonably expected that informal action will achieve 

compliance.

Simple 
Caution

Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences
• To divert offenders, where appropriate, from appearing in criminal courts
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
Simple cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 30/2005.

Prosecution Prosecutions will be considered under any of the following circumstances:
• The offence is serious and/or there is a risk to the public
• There is a poor history of compliance
• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple caution
• There have been repeat offences
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been an intent to 

deceive
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their duties
• A Fixed Penalty Notice has not been accepted

Page 37



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

7

Food Safety
Food safety Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 

will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to 
public health from the activities of food businesses.

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports

• The act or omission is relatively minor.
• From the individual/businesses’ past history it can be reasonably 

expected that informal action will achieve compliance.
• Confidence in the individual/business’s management practices is high.
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to 

those affected by the activities of the food business.

Hygiene 
Improvement 
Notice

• Formal action is proportionate to the risk to public health.
• There is a record of non-compliance with breaches of food hygiene 

regulations.
• The authorised officer has reason to believe that an informal approach 

will not be successful.

Improvement 
Notice

• Formal action is proportionate to the risk to public health.
• There is a record of non-compliance with breaches of food laws relating 

to the matters enforced by a district council.
• The authorised officer has reason to believe that an informal approach 

will not be successful.
Voluntary 
Closure (food 
hygiene)

• There is an imminent risk of injury to health. 
• Immediate action is required to protect public health.
• Officer is confident that premises will not reopen without prior consent of 

the officer.
• Taken in agreement with the food business operator.

Hygiene 
Emergency 
Prohibition 
Notice 

• There is an imminent risk of injury to health. 
• Immediate action is required to protect public health.
• Informal voluntary closure is considered inappropriate due to the 

nature or severity of the health risk conditions and that the officer is not 
confident that the business will remain closed voluntarily.

• The service of a Hygiene Emergency Prohibition Notice will be followed 
by an application to the Magistrates court for a Hygiene Emergency 
Prohibition Order.

Page 38



8

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Emergency 
Prohibition 
Notice

• There is an imminent risk of injury to health. 
• Immediate action is required to protect public health.
• Informal voluntary closure is considered inappropriate due to the 

nature or severity of the health risk conditions and that the officer is not 
confident that the business operator will mitigate the risk voluntarily.

• The service of an Emergency Prohibition Notice will be followed by an 
application to the Magistrates court for an Emergency Prohibition Order.

Remedial 
Action/
Detention 
Notices – only 
applicable 
to approved 
premises.

Remedial Action/Detention Notices will be considered if:
• There is a breach of the Hygiene Regulations.
• An inspection under the Hygiene Regulations has been hampered.
• There are indications or suspicions that food at an establishment is 

unsafe and requires examination.
• Immediate action is required to ensure food safety.
• Continuing offences require urgent action and corrective actions have 

been ignored.
Simple Caution Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:

• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; 

and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 

30/2005.
Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 

circumstances including:
• The offence is serious.
• There are repeated offences.
• There has been a failure to comply with a statutory notice or there has 

been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple caution.
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been intent to 

deceive, in relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 

duties.

Seizure and Detention of Food
Officers may detain any food they suspect fails to comply with food safety requirements or 
food that they suspect has not been produced or distributed in accordance with hygiene laws. 
The seizure and detention of food will be carried out in accordance with the administrative 
provisions of Section 9 of the Food Safety Act 1990. 
Officers may certify any food that has not been produced, processed or distributed in 
accordance with the Hygiene Regulations, by use of Regulation 29 of the Food Safety and 
Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013, and then seize the food by the use of Section 9 of the 
Food Safety Act 1990. 

Page 39



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

9

Revisits
Revisits to check compliance in respect of contraventions of food safety legislation will be 
carried out in the following circumstances:

 To check compliance with statutory notices.
 To monitor compliance following inspections and other interventions.
 Where there are contraventions which might lead to risks to food safety. 
 Where food business operators have been required to provide documented procedures 

for assessment.
The same officer who undertook the original inspection/visit will wherever practicable, 
undertake revisits.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Food Safety Act 1990
Food Safety and Hygiene England Regulations 2013
Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of Practice and Practice Guidance.
Industry Guides to Good Hygiene Practice.

Page 40



10

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Health and Safety
Health and 
safety

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Where an inspection or investigation reveals no contraventions and the 
existence of satisfactory management controls. Business proprietors and/or 
complainants will be advised accordingly.

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports

The act or omission is relatively minor.
• From the individual/businesses’ past history it can be reasonably expected 

that informal action will achieve compliance.
• Confidence in the individual/business’s management practices is high.
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to 

those affected by work activities.

Improvement 
Notice

The breach of the law is more serious.
• There is a lack of confidence in the proprietor responding to an informal 

approach.
• There is a history of non-compliance with informal action.
• Standards are generally poor and management are not aware of the 

required controls/standards.
• The consequences of non-compliance could result in serious risks to 

health and safety or inadequate welfare provision.
Prohibition 
Notice

An activity involves, or will involve, a risk of serious personal injury.
• A notice will either prohibit the use of a premises, piece/s of equipment 

or process.
• Prohibition will be considered when there is no confidence that the 

duty holder will voluntarily close the premises or cease the use of any 
equipment or process.

Simple caution Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; 

and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 

30/2005.

Page 41



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

11

Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 
circumstances including:
• The gravity of the alleged offence, taken together with the seriousness of 

any actual or potential harm, or the general record and approach of the 
duty holder warrants it.

• There has been reckless disregard of health and safety requirements.
• There have been repeated breaches which give rise to significant risk, or 

persistent and significant poor compliance.
• Work has been carried out without or in serious non-compliance with an 

appropriate licence or safety case.
• A duty holder’s standard of managing health and safety is found to be far 

below what is required by health and safety law and poses a significant 
risk.

• There has been a failure to comply with an improvement or prohibition 
notice

• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple 
caution.

• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been an intent to 
deceive, in relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk.

• Inspectors have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 
duties.

Death at Work
Where there has been a breach of the law leading to a work-related death a charge of 
manslaughter or corporate manslaughter will be considered.  Investigation and prosecution 
decisions will be co-ordinated following a work-related death and the ‘Work-related deaths: 
A protocol for liaison’ will be followed.  This protocol has been jointly agreed by the Health 
and Safety Executive, the Association of Chief Police Officers, the British Transport Police, 
the Crown Prosecution Service, the Local Government Association and the Office of Rail 
Regulation.  Non-signatory organisations, such as the Maritime and Coastguard Agency, Civil 
Aviation Authority and the Chief Fire Officers Association, have agreed that they will take 
account of the protocol when responding to work-related deaths.

Seizure
Inspectors have the power to seize, render harmless, and, where appropriate, sample any 
article or substance that the inspector has reasonable cause to believe that such an article or 
substance is the cause of imminent danger of serious personal injury.
Seizure of article s of substances will be carried out in accordance with the administrative 
provisions of Regulation 20 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974.

Page 42



12

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Revisits
Revisits to check compliance in respect of contraventions of health and safety legislation will 
be carried out in the following circumstances:

 To check compliance with statutory notices.
 Where there are contraventions which might lead to risks to health and safety. 
 Where duty holders have been required to provide suitable and sufficient risk 

assessments.
The same officer who undertook the original inspection/visit will wherever practicable, 
undertake revisits.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Health and Safety Executive Enforcement Guide;
Health and Safety Executive Enforcement Management Model;
Health and Safety Executives Mandatory Section 18 Guidance ‘The Standard for Health and 
Safety Enforcing Authorities’
Relevant Health and Safety Executive Approved Codes of Practice (L series) and other 
guidance (HSG guidance)

Any other trade or best practice guidance as appropriate.

Water Supplies
Water 
Supplies

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to 
public health from the activities of food businesses.

Investigation If a water sample fails to comply with the prescribed concentrations or 
values, defined in the regulations, an investigation will be carried out 
to determine the cause of the failure/s.  The relevant person will then 
be informed of the findings of the investigation and what further action 
will be necessary to ensure that the water complies with the prescribed 
concentration or value. 
Such an investigation will involve the taking of resamples from the private 
water supply.  Depending on circumstances such samples maybe taken 
from points on the private water supply other than was sampled previously.

Page 43



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

13

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports; Risk 
Assessments

Informal action is the first enforcement action to be considered where the 
water is unwholesome but not a potential danger to human health and in 
particular where:
• The risk to human health is not serious enough to warrant formal action 

(low or medium as defined in the Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) Risk 
Assessment Tool).

• The previous record of the supply is such that it would be reasonable to 
expect compliance when informal action is taken.

• Confidence in the supply’s management is high.
• The risk to public health as a result of non-compliance is not significant.
• The action is part of an ongoing project to improve standards.
• The supply is for a single domestic dwelling.

Issue ‘boil-
notice’ 
(Regulation 
18, The 
Private Water 
Regulations 
2009).

If the private supply of water intended for human consumption constitutes 
a potential danger to human health, then a notice must be served on the 
relevant person and the notice must:
• Identify the private supply to which it relates.
• State the grounds for serving the notice.
• Prohibit or restrict the use of that supply.
• Specify what other action is necessary to protect human health.
The consumers of the supply will be informed of the notice and provided 
any necessary advice.
If insufficient information is available to determine if the water constitutes a 
potential danger to human health, advice will be sought from Public Health 
England.

Serve a notice 
(Section 80, 
The Water 
Industry Act 
1991).

• The water is unwholesome or is likely to be supplied in an unwholesome 
state and there is potential danger to human health.

• The risk to human health is serious enough to warrant formal action (high 
or very high risk as defined in the Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) Risk 
Assessment Tool)

• There is a lack of confidence in the ability or will of the relevant person or 
person in control to respond to informal action.

• There is previous history of non-compliance with informal action.
• Standards are generally poor and there is low management awareness.
This notice will specify what steps are necessary to ensure that the water 
supplied is wholesome. 
The consumers of the supply will be informed of the notice and provided 
any necessary advice.
If insufficient information is available to determine if the water constitutes a 
potential danger to human health, advice will be sought from Public Health 
England.

Page 44



14

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Carry out work 
in default

The relevant criteria to be considered are one or both of the following:
• Where all opportunities for appeal against the notice have expired.
• Where the offence involves a failure either in full or in part with the 

requirements of a statutory notice.

Simple Caution Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; 

and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 

30/2005.
Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 

circumstances including:
• The offence is serious.
• There is a poor history of compliance.
• There has been a failure to comply with a statutory notice.
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been intent to 

deceive, in relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 

duties.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Water Industry Act 1991
The Private Water Supplies Regulations 2016
DWI Private Water Supplies Sampling Procedures Manual Version 1.4 August 2018
DWI Private Water Supplies Information Notes http://dwi.defra.gov.uk/private-water-supply/
regs-guidance/guidance.html

Page 45



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

15

Environmental Permitting
Environmental 
Permitting

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to 
public health or the environment from the regulated activities.

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports

• The circumstances do not warrant formal action as the act or omission is 
relatively minor.

• From the businesses’ past history it can be reasonably expected that 
informal action will achieve compliance.

• Confidence in the management practices is high.
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to 

those affected by the activities of the business.
• It is expected that informal action will achieve compliance.

Warning Letters • Where a permit condition is contravened, the operator maybe given a 
written warning to address the contravention. 

• The number of warnings given to the operator will vary depending on the 
seriousness of the situation and the decision to prosecute can be made at 
any time, having regard to the risk rating of the installation and history of 
non-compliance.

Information 
Notice

• An Information Request Notice may be served on an operator or any 
other person in order to obtain information relevant to enable the 
enforcement of the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 and 2018

Enforcement 
Notice

• When an operator has contravened, is contravening or likely to 
contravene an environmental permit condition. 

• If an incident or accident significantly affecting the environment has 
occurred as the result of the operation of the regulated facility.

Suspension 
Notice

• The operation of an installation involves a risk of serious pollution.
• A suspension notice can be served in full on the entire regulated facility 

or in part, known as a ‘partial suspension notice’, whether or not the 
operator has breached a permit condition.

• The suspension notice ceases to authorise the operation of either the 
entire regulated facility or, in the case of a partial suspension notice, those 
activities specified in the notice.

Page 46



16

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Prevent or 
remedy 
pollution

A pollution ‘clean-up’ may be organised under the following scenarios:
• As an alternative to a suspension notice, if in the Council’s opinion, the 

operation of a regulated facility involves the risk of serious pollution the 
Council may arrange for steps to be taken at the operator’s expense for 
the risk to be removed. 

• If an operator commits any of the following offences which causes 
pollution the Council may arrange for steps to be taken to remedy the 
pollution at the operator’s expense:

• operating without a permit 
• contravening a permit condition
• contravening an enforcement notice or suspension notice 
• failing to comply with an information notice
• making false or misleading statements 
• making false entries 
• forging documents etc with intent to deceive
In this case the Council will give the operator at least five working days 
advance notice in writing of the steps the Council intends to take.

Revocation 
Notice

• Appropriate where the exhaustive use of other enforcement tools has 
failed to protect the environment.

• Revokes an environmental permit or part of a permit. 
• Non-payment of the annual subsistence charge. 

Simple Caution Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; 

and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 

30/2005.

Page 47



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

17

Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 
circumstances including:
• Serious breach of the Environmental Permitting regulations including 
• Operating a regulated facility without a permit.
• Failure to comply with or contravene a permit condition
• Failure to comply with the requirements of an enforcement or suspension 

notice.
• Failure to supply, without reasonable excuse, information sought under a 

regulation 61 (1) information notice.
• Making false or misleading statements.
• Making false entries in any record.
• Forgery and deception in relation to documents.
• There is a poor history of compliance.
• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple 

caution.
• There has been a blatant disregard for the law or reckless disregard for 

the environment.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 

duties.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016
The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018
Defra Environmental Permitting General Guidance Manuals
Secretary of State’s Process Guidance Notes

Page 48



18

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Caravans and other licensable sites
Caravans 
and other 
licensable 
sites

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to 
public health from the activities of caravan or other licensed sites.

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports

• The act or omission is relatively minor.
• From the individual/businesses’ past history it can be reasonably expected 

that informal action will achieve compliance.
• Confidence in the individual/business’s management practices is high.
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to 

those affected by the activities of caravan or other licensed sites.
• To resolve any breach of the licence conditions, having regard to the site 

owners’ apparent willingness to resolve the situation, the seriousness of 
the issue and potential risk. 

• If a non-licensed site can be licensed, the Council will work with the site 
owner to ensure an application is submitted within 28 days.

• For non-licensed sites or sites which no-longer have a valid licence 
or planning permission, a referral shall be made to the planning 
enforcement officer and joint action considered.

Compliance 
Notices 
(relevant 
protected sites)

• A breach of license condition/s which pose a significant risk.
• Persistent breaches of license conditions.
• An informal approach has not achieved the desired result.
• A safety critical or public health issue exists.

Emergency 
Action 
(relevant 
protected sites)

• The occupier is failing or has failed to comply with condition/s of the site 
license and there is an imminent risk of serious harm to the health or 
safety of any person who is or could be on the land.

Page 49



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

19

Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 
circumstances including:
• Failure to comply with a compliance notice.
• If the licence holder is convicted of failing to comply with a compliance 

notice on two or more previous occasions the Council will apply to the 
Magistrates’ Court to have the licence revoked. 

• For sites which are not relevant protected sites, if a site owner is in 
breach of a licence condition the local authority may prosecute in the 
Magistrates’ Court.

• If the licence holder is convicted of failing to comply with a site licence 
condition on two or more previous occasions the Council will apply to the 
Magistrates’ Court to have the licence revoked.

• Using land for a licensable caravan site without a license.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 

duties.
• Failing to allow the license to be altered.

Carry out 
work in 
default (taking 
action with 
and without 
agreement)

• Where an occupier is convicted for non-compliance with a compliance 
notice the Council may take the steps detailed in the notice to comply with 
the notice.  The occupier must be given reasonable notice of the Council’s 
intentions.

• Works in default are considered a more appropriate or effective remedy 
than prosecution.

• The person served with a statutory notice starts work but then does not 
make satisfactory progress in accordance with stipulated timescales.

• Following inspection the works carried out are not suitable to ensure 
compliance with the notice.

• There is an ongoing risk to health or safety posed by continued non-
compliance with the notice.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
Mobile Homes Act 2013
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Environmental Protection Act 1990
Model Standards 2008 for Caravan Sites in England
Mobile Homes Act 2013 ‘A best Practice Guide for Local Authorities on Enforcement of the 
New Site Licensing Regime’

Page 50



20

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Residential Services
Residential 
Services

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to public health from 
the activities of food businesses.

Informal action 
Initial Assessment 
- verbal 
advice and 
recommendations

• Preliminary assessment of the complaint/information provided by EHTS including 
whether the matter falls within the remit/relevant powers of the service.

• Based on the available information including any previous history, the appropriate 
course of action will be determined by EHTS as follows:

• General advice provided.
• Forwarded to another agency/enforcement authority for action.
• Forwarded to officer for response within service target time or for an 

immediate response.

Informal action 
Written 
advice and 
recommendations

• For requests that progress to investigation, information on how the case will proceed, 
associated time scales, what they can expect from the service and what the service 
expects from them, will be sent in writing by means of an informative letter and in 
some cases a service leaflet. 

• Officers will, without prejudice to the Councils’ statutory duties, exercise appropriate 
discretion when approaching individual cases or complaints and will initiate the type 
of enforcement action warranted by the nature and severity of the nuisance, risk to 
public health or the environment.  A combination of different types of action may be 
appropriate, involving other organisations.

• In many cases, the first contact with the alleged perpetrator will be following the receipt 
of an informative letter.  The letter advises them to contact the service should they wish 
to discuss the allegation further.  It provides an opportunity for them to dispute the 
complaint or to discuss the circumstances of the allegation.  In such cases they will be 
given unbiased advice and guidance on how a situation may be resolved and directed 
towards areas where specialist advice may be obtained. 

• In determining the most appropriate course of action, an officer will have regard to the 
apparent willingness of the ‘person responsible’ to resolve a situation and any previous 
records of compliance.  

• For individuals classed as within a vulnerable group direct officer intervention will be 
offered.  A vulnerable person will be someone who the officer believes is unable to 
correctly interpret or understand the written advice, its implications or that it is likely to 
cause an unreasonable amount of stress or anxiety upon that individual. 

• In cases where the resolution would benefit from the involvement of other 
organisations, the officer will consider alternative enforcement powers. 

• Where deemed appropriate the use of alternative dispute resolution methods such as 
mediation, will be considered 

• As the complaint progresses the officer will keep both parties updated on 
developments, as necessary.

Page 51



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

21

Informal action 
Written 
advice and 
recommendations

• Further informative letters sent as part of ongoing investigation will be written in clear 
and readily understandable language and distinguish whether it is mandatory or 
advisory in nature.

• Informal action will generally be taken if the cases are: 
• relatively minor in nature;
• cannot be readily witnessed by a Council Officer appointed for  the purpose;
• not determined to fall within the defined classification of  our investigation powers; or
• where the offender has agreed to remedy the nuisance or defect within an agreed 

timescale with the investigating officer. 
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to those affected 

by the activities taking place.
Statutory Notice 
(Including CPN)

• Formal action is proportionate to the risk to public health in that a serious statutory 
nuisance, public health issue or impact to the environment exists.

• There is a history of non-compliance with the relevant regulations.
• The authorised officer has reason to believe that an informal approach will not be 

successful.
• The intended course of action will be notified to the perpetrator with the aim of 

resolving any points of difference that may affect legal proceedings.  This will normally 
be done through a visit or direct discussion with the person responsible. It will detail 
the evidence upon which formal action is based, reasons for taking the action, if 
relevant the type of works that may be considered necessary and the time period 
considered reasonable to resolve the issue.  These discussions may provide a valuable 
guide to effective enforcement and may result in an outcome acceptable to both 
parties.

Carry out work in 
default

• In circumstances where the requirements of the notice are not met, under certain 
regulations the Council is empowered to carry out the required works and recover the 
costs. The Council will generally carry out works in default when:

• The person served with a statutory notice fails to comply with the requirements of the 
notice;

• No appeal has been made against the terms of the notice or an appeal has not been 
upheld; 

• The Councils regard work in default as being a more appropriate or effective remedy 
than prosecution or where a successful prosecution has already been taken but the 
problem remains.

• The Councils may also agree to carry out work in default on behalf of the person 
responsible where a written request and an undertaking to pay has been received from 
them.

• Inspection by the Councils has deemed that the works carried out are not suitable to 
ensure compliance with the notice.

• In deciding whether to carry out work in default, the Council will consider:
• The urgency to rectify the nuisance/public health hazard.
• Where known the wishes of the person responsible.
• Where the evidence available indicates a realistic prospect of recovering its reasonable 

costs.

Page 52



22

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Carry out work in 
default

• Where statute allows the Council to recover the cost of the works by placing a charge 
on the property.

Simple Caution  Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 30/2005.

Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following circumstances including:
• There is a failure to comply with the requirements of a notice and there has been no a 

an appeal against the terms of the notice; or
• the appeal made has not been upheld; or
• Where the Council regards prosecution as likely to be a more appropriate and 

effective remedy than works in default alone.
• The offence is serious.
• There is a poor history of compliance.
• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple caution.
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been intent to deceive, in 

relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their duties.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Environmental Protection Act 1990
The Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993
Noise Act 1996
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949
Clean Air Act 1993
Control of Pollution Act 1974
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act) 1982
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act) 1976
The Licensing Act 2003
Public Health Act 1936
Public Health Act 1961
The Building Act 1984
Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984

Page 53



Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

23

Private Sector Housing
Private 
Sector 
Housing

Qualifying Criteria for Option (please note the use of each option 
will only be considered when one or more of the criteria apply)

No Action Enforcement options shall not be considered where there is no risk to the 
health or safety of the occupiers of private sector residential properties. 

Informal action 
This may take 
the form of: 
Advice; Verbal 
warning; 
Written 
information; 
Inspection 
reports

• The act or omission is relatively minor.
• From the landlords past history it can be reasonably expected that 

informal action will achieve compliance.
• Confidence in the landlord’s management practices is high.
• The consequence of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to the 

occupiers.

Obtaining 
information/
provison of 
documents

• Any document/information required to excersise relevant functions of the 
Housing Act 2004.

• Any document/information required fr the purpose of investigating 
whether an offcence has been committed.

Hazard 
Awareness 
Notice 

• There is a duty to serve a notice when there are category 1 hazard/s in 
the property.

• A notice may be served when there are category 2 hazards in the property.
Improvement 
Notice 

• There is a duty to serve a notice when there are category 1 hazard/s in 
the property.

• A notice may be served when there when there are category 2 hazards in 
the property.

• Formal action is proportionate to the risk to public health. 
• There is a record of non-compliance.
• The authorised officer has reason to believe that an informal approach 

will not be successful.
Prohibition 
Order

• There is a duty to serve an order when there are category 1 hazard/s in 
the property.

• An order ma be served when there are category 2 hazards in the property.
• Action is required to protect the health or safety of the occupiers.

Emergency 
Prohibition 
Order

• There is a duty when satisfied that there are category 1 hazard/s in the 
property and an imminent risk to health or safety to the occupiers of the 
property to serve an emergency order.

Emergency 
Remedial 
Action

• When category 1 hazard/s exists and that the hazard involves an 
imminent risk of serious harm to the health or safety of the occupiers of 
that or any other premises.

Page 54



24

Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy 2018

Carry out work 
in default 
(taking 
action with 
and without 
agreement)

• Works in default are considered a more appropriate or effective remedy 
than prosecution.

• The person served with a statutory notice starts work but then does not 
make satisfactory progress in accordance with stipulated timescales.

• Following inspection the works carried out are not suitable to ensure 
compliance with the notice.

• There is an ongoing risk to health or safety posed by continued non-
compliance with the notice.

Grant, refuse, 
vary or revoke 
an HMO License

• The property is suitable to be occupied as an HMO.
• The license holder and manager are fit and proper people.
• Satisfactory management arranegements are in place.

Simple Caution Simple Cautions will be used under the following circumstances:
• To deal quickly and simply with less serious offences.
• To divert offenders where appropriate from appearing in criminal courts; 

and
• To reduce the likelihood of re-offending.
• Simply cautions are issued in accordance with Home Office Circular 

30/2005.
Prosecution Prosecutions may be taken under one or more of the following 

circumstances including:
• The offence is serious.
• There is a poor history of compliance.
• There has been a failure to comply with an improvement notice.
• There has been a failure to comply with a prohibition order.
• There is a breach of the HMO Management Regulations.
• There is a breach of an HMO license condition.
• Operating a licensable HMO without a license.
• Failure to provide documents required by notice.
• There has been a repetition of a breach that was subject to a simple caution.
• False information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been intent to 

deceive, in relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk.
• Officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their 

duties.

Relevant legislation and guidance includes:

Housing Act 2004
The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006
Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme Enforcement Guidance
Housing Health and Safety Rating System Operating Guidance
Housing Act 2004 - Guidance about inspections and assessment of hazards 
HDC - Houses in Multiple Occupation Amenity Standards Explained (A Guide for Owners and 
Managing Agents)

Page 55



© Communications Unit HDC 2018

This information is available in alternative formats and languages

Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Northallerton, North Yorkshire DL6 2UU 

01609 779977

info@hambleton.gov.uk

hambleton .gov .uk

Page 56

http://www.hambleton.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Sowerby Sports Village
	4 Revised Local Development Scheme
	Enc. 1 for Revised Local Development Scheme

	5 Leisure and Environment Enforcement Policy
	Enc. 1 for Fly Tipping Policy




